
A
G

EN
D

A
 

O
U

TSTA
N

D
IN

G
 

A
C

TIO
N

S
STR

A
TEG

IC
 

M
A

T
TER

S
C

A
SE R

EP
O

R
TS 

FR
O

M
 P

SC

 

 

 
 

 

MINUTES Meeting date: Monday 4 November 2024  

 
IN ATTENDANCE ONLINE  
Members: 

• Suzanne Vestri (Convener) 

• Ashleigh Dunn  

• Helen Donaldson 

• Lezley Stewart 

• Morag Ferguson 

Executive Team Members: 

• Lorna Johnston (Executive Director) 
 
 

ITEM CONTENT ACTION 

STANDING ITEMS 

1.  APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Richard Wilson, Case Manager. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
Ms Vestri and Ms Ferguson declared interests and took no part in the discussions on items 9(d) 
and (e). 
 

 
  

2.  MATTERS ARISING 
Members noted all matters arising from their last meeting, on 24 September 2024, were 
complete. 
 
The Convener thanked the Human Resources Committee for its work on reviewing and updating 
the template to be used for the Members’ annual appraisals.  
 

 
 
 

CONSENT ITEMS 

3.  DRAFT MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
Members reviewed and approved the minute of the meeting on 24 September 2024.   
 

 
 

STRATEGIC MATTERS 

4.  PROMOTING THE ETHICAL STANDARDS FRAMEWORK AND UPDATE ON OUTREACH WORK 
Members noted the outreach work undertaken since the last meeting. Members noted, in 

particular, that: 

• The Case Manager presented on the Model Code to Board Members at the Scottish 

Government’s new Ministerial Appointee workshop on 25 September 2024. 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager conducted a joint webinar on confidentiality, with 

the Improvement Service, for elected members on 7 October 2024 (see feedback at item 12). 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager met online with the President of the Adjudication 

Panel for Wales to discuss the respective offices. It was agreed further biannual meetings 

would be scheduled.  

 

Members further noted that: 

• The Convener and Executive Director were scheduled to appear before the Local 

Government, Housing and Planning Committee on 19 November 2024. 

• The Executive Director was due to present at the SOLAR annual conference on 22 November 

2024. 

 



2 
 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager were to conduct two further joint webinars, with 

the Improvement Service, for elected members in early 2025. These would be on identifying 

and managing conflicts of interest, and quasi-judicial and regulatory decision-making, 

respectively. 

• Staff and Members were due to attend a strategy day with the newly appointed public 

relations company on 29 January 2025, which was intended to help shape the focus of 

outreach and promotional work going forward.  

    

BUSINESS MATTERS 

5.  ADVISING RESPONDENTS OF COMPLAINTS 
Members noted the Convener had sent a letter to the ESC to ask him to reconsider his practice 

of only advising Respondents about complaints made against them only after the complaint is 

accepted or rejected at the admissibility stage. The Convener and Executive Director had then 

met the ESC to discuss the matter. The ESC explained, at this meeting, that he still had the 

following concerns in particular: 

• That knowing they had a complaint ‘hanging over’ them for longer would be more 

distressing and potentially unfair for a Respondent; and 

• That advising Respondents that a complaint about them had been received before any 

eligibility assessment had been completed could encourage more ‘tit for tat’ complaints. 

The Executive Director and Convener had suggested it was likely the vast majority of 

Respondents would still prefer to know a complaint had been made about them, regardless of 

whether this meant it was, in effect, ‘hanging-over’ them for longer (especially if the Complainer 

was a council officer or political opponent). It was further noted that a Respondent could lodge 

a ‘tit for tat’ complaint at any stage, and there was no reason why they would do so simply 

because they had been informed a complaint had been made (as opposed to being told that it 

had been accepted for investigation or rejected as inadmissible). Members noted, in any event, 

that a complaint a Respondent made, in retaliation, could still have merit and be a breach of the 

Code. Such complaints should not, therefore, necessarily be discouraged. 

Members noted, nevertheless, that the ESC had advised he was also concerned that 

corresponding and dealing with Respondents before admissibility could create extra work for his 

office and, therefore, have a detrimental impact in terms of the overall timescales for the 

assessment and investigation of complaints. The Convener and Executive Director had accepted 

this, albeit they advised they did not consider such a consideration would outweigh the 

requirement to ensure the process was fair to all concerned.  

Members noted that the question of when Respondents were advised of complaints would be 

far less of an issue if a decision on admissibility was taken quickly (for example, within six weeks 

of the complaint being received).  

Members noted that the ESC had advised of various measures his office is taking to reduce the 

current average time of four months for making a decision on eligibility. Members agreed, in  

light of this work, it should be suggested to the ESC that as an interim measure, he could look at 

cases on an individual basis to decide whether a Respondent should be informed the complaint 

had been received at an earlier stage. Members noted it could be suggested that he may wish to 

do so in case where: 

• it was likely there would be a dispute about what had allegedly occurred (where it might be 

helpful and fair to give the Respondent the opportunity to record their own recollection or 

to seek to take a witness statement, before memories of the event faded);  

• the Respondent could limit the alleged breach (for example, by updating their Register of 

Interests); and 

• the media had already published reports about the complaint. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Members noted it was open to the Standards Commission to issue a Direction to the ESC under 

Section 10 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. Members agreed, 

however, that it was not necessary or appropriate to do so at this time. Members agreed to 

review the matter again in six-months, in the expectation that, by then, the average time to 

assess admissibility would have reduced. 

 

6.  ONLINE HEARINGS  
Members noted they had agreed, at their meeting on 24 September 2024, to review the 
effectiveness of online Hearings, in light of experience gained and ongoing research. 
 
Members noted that Standards Commission’s Hearing Rules currently provided that the 
Standards Commission would normally hold the Hearing at the headquarters of the Respondent’s 
local authority or public body, but that it may decide to hold the Hearing online (and livestream 
it) “for example in cases where it appears there is little dispute between the parties and a limited 
number of witnesses (other than the Respondent) are to be called”. 
 
Members noted the following advantages and disadvantages of holding Hearings online, from 
both the Standards Commission’s experience and research. 
1. Technical issues: While the Standards Commission’s experience of online Hearings had 

remained generally positive, with no reduction in the level of participation and the vast 
majority of parties accustomed to using technology to join online events, some technical 
issues had arisen at recent Hearings (including problems with Wi-Fi connections). Members 
noted that while the Executive Team can invite parties and witnesses to practice sessions 
before Hearings, to test their connection, there remained the possibility that technical 
problems could occur. 

2. Communication: Members noted that it was more difficult for the Panel Chair to pick up on 
non-verbal cues when online, for example, if a party wished to speak or if other Members 
considered a matter being discussed was irrelevant. Members noted that Respondents and 
their representatives could also face the same issues both with communicating with each 
other and with the Panel. Members further noted that the Executive Team did not have the 
same opportunity as they would have at in-person Hearings to have informal discussions with 
the parties in order to respond to queries, resolve any potential procedural issues and allay 
any concerns. Members noted that research demonstrated that decision-makers were less 
inclined to interrupt to ask questions in an online setting than they were in-person.  

3. More tiring: While Members indicated they did not necessarily find Hearings held online more 
tiring or draining than in-person proceedings, the Executive Team found that to be the case 
when providing support. Members noted that research indicated that professionals have 
discussed the “draining impact” of being in a hearing on a screen all day.  

4. Savings in terms of travel time and costs: Members noted that the average cost of holding a 
Hearing online was currently approximately half of that of holding it in-person. 

5. Importance of holding the Hearing locally: Members noted that most Hearings concern or 
stemmed from local issues and, as such, considered that the importance of holding them in 
the locality remained a key consideration, particularly given the organisation is the Standards 
Commission for Scotland.  Members noted that local press often attend in-person Hearings. 
Members further noted that holding a Hearing in-person could be perceived as 
demonstrating the highest level of respect for all involved. Members agreed where the 
Respondent is located should remain irrelevant to any decision on whether to hold a Hearing 
online or in person. 

6. Loss of gravitas: Members noted that no feedback had been received to suggest that holding 
Hearings online had detracted from the seriousness of the process or that any participants 
have viewed an online hearing as more of a ‘call’ or ‘meeting’. Members note that research 
on this aspect was nuanced. In general, there were concerns about the potential impact on 
the functioning and status of the court or tribunal as the place where justice is done and seen 
to be done. Professionals had voiced concern about the ‘erosion of formality’ that comes with 
distractions (such as doorbells, parcel deliveries etc.), overly informal dress, inappropriate 
language and unsuitable joining locations, which in turn affected the weight or gravitas of 

 
 



4 
 

proceedings. It was also noted that parties may be more inclined to take the outcome of a 
Hearing seriously when it was delivered in person, in a formal setting.  
 

Having considered all the advantages and disadvantages outlined above, Members agreed that 
no changes should be made to the current process or Rules. It should be noted that nothing in 
the Rules would preclude a Panel from agreeing to hold a Hearing online if either party suggested 
this as an option, even if there was quite a good deal of dispute as to the factual basis of the 
complaint (particularly if the other party had no objections). 
 

7.  APPEAL DECISION LA/S/3867 
Members noted that the Respondent lodged an appeal against the one-month suspension 
imposed at a Hearing held on 7 August 2024 in respect of case LA/S/3867. 
 
Members noted that the appeal before the Sheriff Principal was heard on 9 October 2024. The 
Sheriff Principal found in the Standards Commission’s favour and rejected the appeal, with no 
criticisms being made in respect of either the Panel’s decision or the written determination.  
 
Members noted that the Sheriff Principal stated, in respect of the first ground of appeal, that she 
accepted that the range of available sanctions should be considered in ascending order until an 
appropriate disposal is identified. While the Sheriff Principal found that the written decision was 
worded in a manner that “would tend to show that the laddered approach advocated by the 
pursuer was at the forefront of the defender’s mind”, the Executive Team had nevertheless re-
ordered the sanction part of the written decision template document both to ensure and 
demonstrate clearly that this approach would be followed in all applicable cases. 
 
Members noted that the Executive Team had instructed the Standards Commission’s solicitors 
to proceed to recover expenses. The Executive Team would update Members when any decision 
was made.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

8.  MEMBERS’ MEETING WITH SCOTTISH PARLIAMENTARY CORPORATE BODY 
Members discussed and agreed the key points they wished to raise with the Scottish 
Parliamentary Corporate Body at their forthcoming meeting, scheduled to be held on 28 
November 2024. 
 

 
 
 

CASES UPDATE 

9.  REPORTS FROM THE ESC & SECTION 14 LETTERS 
(a) LA/SA/3917: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a South Ayrshire 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
(b) NB/CHS/4049: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a Children’s Hearings Scotland member. 
 
(c) LA/AC/3986: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Aberdeen City 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

(d) LA/EL/3911: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an East Lothian councillor. 
 

(e) LA/EL/4029: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an East Lothian councillor. 
 

(f) LA/NL/3987: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a North Lanarkshire councillor. 
 
(g) LA/Fi/4106:  Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Fife Councillor 
under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 



5 
 

 

(h)  LA/SA/3917: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a South Ayrshire councillor. 
 
(i) LA/AB/3953:  Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Argyll and 
Bute Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

10.  CASES 
(a) LA/NL/3979: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 23 October 2024 at the Sir John 
Wilson Town Hall, Airdrie. The Respondent was found to have breached the Councillors’ Code 
and was suspended. 
 
(b) LA/NL/3978: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 10 December 
2024 at the Gartlea Community Centre, Airdrie. 
 
(c) LA/H/3969: Members noted that a Hearing scheduled to take place on 8 October 2024 at the 
Council Headquarters, Inverness had been adjourned as the Standards Commission had directed 
the ESC to undertake further investigation. The outcome of this further investigation was 
awaited. 

 
(d) LA/Mi/4131: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 15 January 2025 
in the Council Chambers, Midlothian House, Dalkeith. 

 

(e) LA/AC/3986: Members noted that a decision to hold a Hearing had been made. A date for 
the Hearing would be identified and the parties advised accordingly.  
 

 

11.  INVESTIGATIONS EXCEEDING 3 MONTHS – INTERIM REPORTS 
(a) LA/EL/4029: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an East Lothian Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 
 
(b) LA/Fa/3910: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Falkirk Councillor had taken more than nine months to 
investigate. 

 
(c) LA/AC/3994: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Aberdeen City Councillor had taken more than six months 
to investigate. 

 
(d) LA/H/3964: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 
(e) FEC/SL/3659A & B: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising 
that an investigation into a complaint about former members of South Lanarkshire College had 
taken more than three months to investigate. 

 
(f) LA/H/4091: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 
(g) LA/AC/3990: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Aberdeen City Councillor had taken more than six months 
to investigate. 

 

 
 
 
 



6 
 

 

(h) LA/SI/4102: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Shetland Islands Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(i) LA/H/4028: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 

(j) LA/WD/4109 and LA/WD/4118: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the 
ESC advising that an investigation into a complaint about a West Dunbartonshire Councillor had 
taken more than three months to investigate. 

 

(k) LA/DG/4041: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Dumfries and Galloway Councillor had taken more than 
three months to investigate. 

 

(l) LA/E/3961: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a City of Edinburgh Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 
 

12.  FEEDBACK INCLUDING ANY HEARINGS SURVEY RESPONSES 
Members noted the positive feedback received from the Improvement Service on their joint 
confidentiality webinar with the Executive Director and Case Manager on 7 October 2024. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

13.  ANY EMERGING RISKS  
None identified. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT SCS MEETING 
Members agreed to advise the Executive Director of any items to be included in the agenda for 
discuss at the next meeting. 
 

 
 

14.  2024/25 DIARY DATES AND WORKPLAN 
Members noted the diary dates and ongoing workplan. Members noted that the meeting and 
training session schedule will be reviewed at their meeting in December. 
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
Members noted that the next meeting of the Standards Commission was scheduled to take place 
at the Scottish Parliament at 10:00 on Monday, 16 December 2024.  
 

 
 
 


